**In the Supreme Court of the State of Montana**

Supreme Court No. DA 25-0201

---

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

-vs-

DENNIS STEFFENS,

Defendant and Appellant.

---

**Appellant's Opening Brief**

---

An Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court  
Gallatin County, Hon. Andrew Breuner, Presiding.

---

Appearances:

COLIN M. STEPHENS  
JORDAN R. KILBY  
Stephens Brooke, P.C.  
315 W. Pine  
Missoula, MT 59802  
Phone: (406) 721-0300  
[colin@stephensbrooke.com](mailto:colin@stephensbrooke.com)

*Attorney for Defendant  
& Appellant*

AUSTIN KNUDSEN  
Montana Attorney General  
TAMMY K. PLUBELL  
Appellate Bureau Chief  
Joseph P. Mazurek Building

## **Statement of the Case**

Dennis Steffens appeals from his conviction and sentencing in the Eighteenth Judicial District. A jury convicted Dennis on Count I, felony Sexual Assault, with a finding the victim was less than 16 years old and Dennis was 3 or more years older than the victim. (Appendix A).

On February 28, 2025, the district court sentenced Dennis to 15 years in the Montana State Prison with 10 of those years suspended.

Dennis filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 17, 2025. He is currently housed in the Montana State Prison. (Id.)

## **Statement of the Issues & Summary of the Arguments**

The district court committed plain error when it intentionally struck the word “purposely” from the jury instruction defining “sexual contact” and failed to provide the jury with the applicable legal definition for the term “purposely.” By doing so, the district court altered the definition of sexual contact and lessened the State’s burden resulting in a manifest miscarriage of justice.

In the alternative to plain error, Dennis’ trial counsel was

ineffective in conceding to striking “purposely” from the definition of “sexual contact” and not proposing an instructional definition of “purposely.” Trial counsel failed to ensure the jury was properly instructed on the applicable law and allowed a lower burden of proof for the State.

The State presented insufficient evidence for the jury to convict Dennis of Sexual Assault. In this case, a conviction for Sexual Assault required a proof-beyond-a-reasonable-doubt showing that Dennis subjected Anne E. to sexual contact without her consent. By law, sexual contact has two components. First, the touching of the sexual or intimate person of one person by another, directly or through clothing. Second, the touching must be done “in order to knowingly or purposely” (a) cause bodily injury to or humiliate, harass, or degrade another; or (b) arouse or gratify the sexual response or desire of either party. The State presented no evidence – let alone evidence to support proof beyond a reasonable doubt – as to either (a) or (b) above. In the absence of such evidence, Dennis’ conviction cannot stand.

## Statement of Facts

Dennis is the uncle to Anne E. and Alison E. Both Anne and Alison are adults now, but the allegations Anne leveled at Dennis occurred when she was a minor. Although the details of the allegation evolved, Anne claimed Dennis repeatedly sexually assaulted her when the two would play the “robot game” during times when Dennis and his wife would visit from Wisconsin. (Tr. Day 3 at 15).

On direct, Anne explained the “robot game” to the jury.

So, basically, I was, like, I was the robot and he was controlling me . . . . So, basically, I would lay down and he would pull my pants down and lift my shirt up, and, like my body - - different body parts were different buttons on a robot and I remember every time he would start the game where he, after my pants were pulled down, he would - - there was an imaginary like CD that he would like pretend to put in me. So he would touch my, like, vagina and he would make this motion like a CD slot, and he would put the imaginary CD in - - he didn't put anything in me, but it was an imaginary CD that he would put and, like, kind of, push down, kind of, on my vagina and he would, like I don't remember exactly what function it was, but he would press his thumb against, like, a little bit lower than my vagina, kind of, like clit area and then he would like, touch different parts of my body like my stomach, sometimes my fact but I don't remember what functions those did, but, then, I distinctly remember him touching my - - touching my nipples and pretend they were, like, like they were dials, like the volume or something and he would pretend and he

would make that - - he would touch my nipples and like turn the dial so there were specific - - so it was on specific settings.

Then I would get up, I would, like pull my pants back up and my shirt down and would pretend to be a robot for a little bit, and then at the end I would lay back down, and he would touch all those parts, again, to turn off the robot off.

(Tr. Day 3 at 17-18).

Anne testified she would willingly go with Dennis into the room where the robot game was allegedly played, (Id. at 16). Anne affirmed Dennis was “wearing his clothes” throughout the duration of the game. (Id. at 19). The game went on from the time Anne was approximately six or seven until she was “like ten.” (Id. at 21). According to Anne, she “just went along with it,” and “was like giggling and stuff.” (Id. at 23).

The game ended when Anne was “around ten-ish,” and she was “like ‘Dennis, I don’t want to play this game, like I’d rather do other things’ and he said, I don’t know the exact words, but he was, like, ‘oh, no, you don’t? Are you sure?’ And I was, like, ‘I’d rather just play something else or, like, do something else,’ and he’s like, ‘okay.’ And then we never played that game again.” (Id. at 24) (internal quotation

marks added for clarity).

Anne testified that it wasn't until she was around ten that she "pieced together why [she] was feeling uncomfortable." (Id. at 23). She recalled feeling "uncomfortable" and, without telling any details to her mother, she relayed that "there's this game we play," and she did not really want to play it anymore because "[i]t kind of makes [her] uncomfortable." (Id. at 23-24).

Dennis denied the entirety of Anne's allegations except for playing the robot game once. "It was in the stairwell. She held up her arms and said, 'I'm a robot.' And she kind of stumbled down the steps turned into the study and plopped on the air mattress and was acting like everything was stiff." (Id. at 130-131) (internal quotation marks added). "So I said, 'what do you need?' And she said 'oil'. . . . So I made like I had an oil can and oil her joints and I moved around back and forth and pressed her belly button and she jumped up and ran away and I think after that we played cards." (Id. at 131). During this time, there were "other people around." (Id. at 132).

Anne did not disclose Dennis' alleged sexual assault to law

enforcement and neither did Anne's parents, although the jury heard testimony both parents were aware of the allegations years before law enforcement knew. (Tr. Day 2 at 165-166; 214). Rather, it was Alison who disclosed on Anne's behalf. According to Alison, she learned of Anne's alleged abuse in 2018<sup>1</sup> when the girls and their family were in Wisconsin with Dennis and his wife, Margaret. (Tr. Day 2 at 164).

In 2021, without consulting her parents or her sister, Alison "reported what happened to [her] sister to law enforcement." (Id. at 169). According to Alison, she disclosed because Anne "was scared and upset," and "very uncomfortable around" Dennis. (Id. at 169-170). Alison, who was only "partially" living in her family's home, could "tell that [Anne] was scared." (Id. at 170-171). After relaying Anne's hearsay allegations about Dennis to law enforcement, Alison "immediately" moved out of her family home but not before first asking law enforcement not to act on her tip until the family could complete a trip to the Bahamas. (Id. at 171 & 177). Also immediately after disclosing Anne's tale to law enforcement, Alison blocked Anne from

---

<sup>1</sup>Although Alison would "reiterate" "this was in 2019." (Tr. Day 2 at 165).

being able to contact Alison by either phone or social media. Anne was left without a way to contact Alison for years. (Id. at 184-185).

At trial, it was revealed that Alison expressly told law enforcement that she knew the robot game was sexual because she was in the room when it occurred. However, on direct, Alison backtracked from the basis of her factual knowledge, and told the jury that the only reason she knew the game was sexual was because Anne had told her. (Id. at 178). Then, on Alison's cross examination, Alison testified Anne told her before a family trip to Wisconsin, then she testified she had not learned about the game from Anne until they were in Wisconsin at Dennis' house. (Id. at 179). Again, on cross, she recanted her original statement to law enforcement that she was in the room when the game occurred.

After Alison's report, the case was assigned to Detective Nate Webb of the Gallatin County Sheriff's Office. Det. Webb sought the assistance of Wisconsin law enforcement to conduct a courtesy interview of Dennis. Det. Webb took no further action on the case until he received all of the information from Wisconsin. (Day 2 Tr. at 39-40).

At trial, the State did not call any law enforcement officers from Wisconsin. Dennis was fully cooperative with the officers from Wisconsin. (Tr. Day 3 at 133).

Once Det. Webb received the reports from his compatriots in Wisconsin, he contacted Dennis by phone. (Id. at 40). Again, Dennis was fully cooperative. (Id. at 74-75). However, Det. Webb became suspicious of a number of statements that were allegedly “inconsistent” regarding what Dennis had told the Wisconsin officers and what Dennis told Det. Webb. (Id. at 43). For example, Dennis apparently told officers in Wisconsin that “he would babysit Annie<sup>2</sup> to include bathing.” (Id.) How often this occurred apparently went unasked by either Det. Webb or his colleagues in Wisconsin. Later, in his own interview with Dennis, Det. Webb found “inconsistent” Dennis’ statement that “he was almost never alone with [Anne].” Again, what constituted “almost never,” appears to have gone unexplored despite the fact that Det. Webb affirmed the “most important part of [his] job is to investigate.” (Tr. Day 2 at 54).

---

<sup>2</sup>Anne and Annie are the same person and the names were used interchangeably at trial depending on the witness.

Det. Webb also found inconsistent who first raised the concept of the “robot” game. Det. Webb first testified that it was “Wisconsin law enforcement” who “first suggested” it in “their initial interview view with him.” (Id. at 44). However, noting his own inconsistency, Det. Webb was compelled “to correct something [he] just said, it wasn’t suggested by Wisconsin law enforcement. The game was identified by name, first, by Mr. Steffens.” (Id.) To Det. Webb, this was inconsistent from the statement Dennis gave to Det. Webb. “I specifically asked Mr. Steffens about a game called the robot game because that had come up in prior interviews with Annie and so when I asked that of Mr. Steffens, he told me that it sounded familiar.” (Id.)

Det. Webb concluded Dennis had

contradictory explanations for the robot game. Initially, it was - - when I asked him, directly, about what the robot game was, he kind of stammered and talked about picking Annie up and throwing her around and turning her on and off. And then talking about throwing her on the bed indicated it was very, kind of, private game occurring in the bedroom. When I pressed again later in the interview about the robot game, he talked about chasing Annie around the house indicating that it was something that was occurring more in the public view.

(Id. at 45).

Det. Webb described Dennis' demeanor as "nervous." (Id. at 48). Based on Det. Webb's training and experience, this nervousness manifested itself in Dennis stammering and "provid[ing] an incomplete sentence as an explanation as to what the game entailed." (Id. at 49). Det. Webb's interview with Dennis occurred in 2021. (Id. at 50).

In October 2020, some months before his interview with Det. Webb, Dennis had a stroke. (Tr. Day 3 at 135). The stroke "impacted [his] ability to speak," (Id. at 124), and made it difficult for him to swallow. He "walks with a limp, and [doesn't] feel stimulus properly on [his] left side." (Id.) It also affected his memory causing him to "miss things." (Id. at 135). At the time he interviewed Dennis, Det. Webb was unaware Dennis had had a stroke. (Tr. Day 2 at 90). In fact, Det. Webb appears to have first learned Dennis had a stroke when confronted on cross examination. (Id.) Det. Webb would later affirm that "stammering or stuttering" could be "a symptom of a stroke". (Id. at 92).

After two full days of testimony, the court and the parties met to settle jury instructions. It was the court that first raised the propriety

of a definition for the mental state of “purposely.” (Tr. Day 4 at 17).

The proposed instruction read: “A person acts purposely when it is the petitioner’s<sup>3</sup> conscious object to engage in conduct of that nature.” To his proposed instruction, the court informed the parties: “You know, my two cents on this would be we don’t need this instruction, because I think the State has decided that it was a knowingly, that pursuing this was a knowingly, is there disagreement on that?” (Tr. Day 4 at 17-18).

At this point, the settlement instructions devolved into a confused discussion of numbering, e-filing issues, and the definition of “consent.” (Id. at 18-20). The court was able to return to the its original question and concluded: “We are not giving the purposefully instruction. Then what I’ve got here is the definition of sexual contact, which means the touching of the sexual parts of a person of another directly or through clothing, in order to knowingly or purposely arouse or gratify the sexual response or desire of either party. That’s what I’m looking at, which the general instruction on that.” (Id. at 20). Defense counsel did not

---

<sup>3</sup>It is unclear why, in a criminal trial, the term “petitioner” would be used. Presumably, the court said “person” and “petitioner” is reporter error.

object.

Relevant to this issue, the court then moved to a proposed instruction having “to do with inferring purpose and knowledge. We do have another instruction that talks about inferring state of mind and the State - - it actually is a general instruction. This one we could certainly use, also, but it think we would want to get rid of ‘purpose.’” (Id. at 25). Both parties agreed

Another instruction supporting the plain error and ineffective assistance of counsel claims raised herein, is the court’s given instruction 14 (Appendix B). Instruction 14 was the court’s modified definition of “sexual contact.” Unlike the statutory definition, which includes the mental state of “purposely,” instruction 14 contains no reference to “purposely.” The court’s intentional omission of “purposely” from the instructions was based on fact that the offense of sexual assault was solely a “knowingly” offense. (Tr. Day 4 at 25-26). Consequently, instruction 14 is a truncated version of *Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(65)(b)*, which reads: “Sexual contact’ means touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of the person of another, directly or

through clothing, in order to knowingly, [*sic*] arouse or gratify the sexual response or desire of either party.” (Appendix B, inst. 14). A second result of “sexual contact,” “to knowingly or purposely cause bodily injury to or humiliate, harass, or degrade another,<sup>4</sup>” was also not included by the court or the parties.

Finally, the court also instructed the jury it could use circumstantial evidence to determine the “particular mental state,” and that the jury could infer that mental state “from what the Defendant does and says and from all the facts and circumstances involved.” (Appendix B, inst. 19). The court also supplemented Instruction 19 with Instruction 20, which reads: “Knowledge ordinarily may not be proved directly because there is no way of fathoming or scrutinizing the operations of the human mind. But you may infer the defendant’s state of mind, including knowledge, from the defendant’s acts and all other facts and circumstances in evidence which indicate his state of mind.” (Appendix B, inst. 20).

The jury convicted Dennis on August 29, 2024. (Tr. Day 4 at 105).

---

<sup>4</sup>Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(65)(a).

On February 28, 2025, the court sentenced Dennis to the Montana Department of Corrections for a period of 15 years with 10 of those years suspended. (Sent. Tr. at 146). At the time of his sentencing, Dennis was 71 years old. (Id. at 141). He is currently housed in the Montana State Prison.<sup>5</sup>

### **Standards of Review**

“This Court may discretionarily review claimed errors that implicate a criminal defendant’s fundamental constitutional rights, even if no contemporaneous objection is made and notwithstanding the inapplicability of the § 46-20-701(2), MCA, criteria, where failing to review the claimed error at issue may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, may leave unsettled the question of law, or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process.” *State v. Daniels*, 2003 MT 247, ¶ 20, 317 Mont. 331, 77 P.3d 224.

A district court’s decisions regarding jury instructions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Lacey*, 2012 MT 52, ¶ 15,

---

<sup>5</sup><https://offendersearch.mt.gov/conweb/Offender/3037800/638818006919994237/493dcc1033e41c2ab5aa09fde7c78adcbf301f92>

364 Mont. 291, 272 P.3d 1288. The standard of review of jury instructions in criminal cases is whether the instructions, as a whole, fully and fairly instruct the jury on the law applicable to the case. *State v. King*, 2016 MT 323, ¶ 7, 385 Mont. 483, 485, 385 P.3d 561, 563. The trial judge is under a duty to instruct the jury on every issue or theory finding support in the evidence, and this duty is discharged by giving instructions which accurately and correctly state the law applicable in a case. *State v. Erickson*, 2014 MT 304, ¶ 35, 377 Mont. 84, 338 P.3d 598.

“Ineffective assistance of counsel claims are mixed questions of law and fact which we review de novo.” *State v. Secrease*, 2012 MT 212, ¶ 9, 405 Mont. 229, 493 P.3d 335.

“We review the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain a guilty verdict in a criminal case to determine whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Kalina*, 2025 MT 70, ¶ 25, 421 Mont. 305, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_.

## Argument

I. *Because of both district court and counsel error, the State benefitted from a lowered standard of proof and Dennis' conviction is unconstitutional.*

A. Plain Error

The district court erred when it did not provide a jury instruction defining purposely as it applies to the definition of sexual contact.

Additionally, the State and Defense overlooked the plain language of the definition of sexual contact, which requires that an offender act with a specific purpose. To the extent it was defense counsel's duty to ensure the jury was instructed properly or, at minimum, propose a legally sufficient jury instruction, trial counsel was ineffective.

“[A]s a general matter, our criminal law seeks to punish the ‘viscous will.’” *Xiulu Ruan v. United States*, 97 U.S. 450, 456, 142 S. Ct. 2370, 2376, 213 L. Ed. 706 (2022), citing *Morisette v. United States*, 342 U.S. 246, 251, 72 S. Ct. 240, 96 L. Ed. 288 (1952). This principle is supported by the Montana legislature's decision to define sexual contact as a touching done with a specific purpose. See *Mont. Code Ann. 45-2-101(67)* (“Sexual contact” means touching of the sexual or

other intimate parts of the person of another, directly or through clothing, in order to knowingly or purposely: (a) cause bodily injury to or humiliate, harass, or degrade another; or (b) arouse or gratify the sexual response or desire of either party). Sexual contact is established by two separate but equally important elements. First touching of the intimate parts of another must have occurred. Second, the touching must occur in order to accomplish an intent that makes the touching criminal.

Importantly, the touching alone does not establish the criminal act and instructing the jury on the definition of knowingly alone, ignores the plain language of the statute. The statute requires the State prove the touching was done “in order to” purposely or knowingly cause one of the described results. The phrase “in order to” is not defined in the Montana Code; therefore, the Court must look to its plain and ordinary meaning when examining the statute. See *State v. Knudson*, 2007 MT 324, ¶22, 340 Mont. 167, 174 P.3d 469.

In common parlance, the phrase “in order to” means “for the purpose of” or “as a means to.” Dictionary.com (accessed May 28,

2025); see also [www.dictionary.cambridge.org](http://www.dictionary.cambridge.org) (designating “in order to” as a subordinating conjunction. “We use *in order to* with an infinitive form of a verb to express the purpose of something. It introduces a subordinate clause.”)

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