IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 25-0201

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

DENNIS STEFFENS,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court,
Gallatin County, The Honorable Andrew Breuner, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
ROY BROWN
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
roy.brown2@mt.gov

COLIN M. STEPHENS
JORDAN R. KILBY
Stephens Brooke, P.C.
315 West Pine
Missoula, MT 59802

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT
AND APPELLANT

AUDREY CROMWELL
Gallatin County Attorney
LEIGH FRATTOLILLIO
Deputy County Attorney

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Steffens cannot meet his plain error burden of firmly convincing this Court that failing to review his claimed error is necessary to prevent a manifest miscarriage of justice or that failure to review the claim may leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the proceedings or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process. While, for the first time on appeal, Steffens argues the phrase “in order to” in the sexual contact jury instruction should be reinterpreted to mean the mental state of “purposely,” this challenge fails because the Legislature has long used and defined discrete terms denoting mental state to embody criminal intent. Steffens’s interpretation is otherwise unreasonable because the Legislature has already defined the criminal intent of “knowingly” directly adjacent to the phrase “in order to.” Steffens fails to show plain error here in any event because: (1) the jury was fully and fairly instructed on the elements of

sexual assault; (2) Steffens's defense did not directly implicate his intent for arousal; and (3) contrary to Steffens's argument, the State did not prosecute him without proving his criminal intent.

Next, this Court should reject Steffens's argument that "no plausible explanation" explains his counsel's failure to object and to ask the district court to add the mental state of "purposely" to a "knowingly" offense. Counsel was not obligated to object and proffer a theory that would have been an unsound exercise of professional judgment or would have undermined his client's defense. And, for similar reasons that plain error reversal is not appropriate here, Steffens's counsel's conduct did not raise a reasonable probability that the trial result would have been different but for counsel's performance.

Finally, in the light most favorable to the State, sufficient evidence supported the jury's conviction for sexual assault. As to sexual touching, Annie testified that Steffens touched her vagina, clitoral area, and her nipples directly under the pretext of a "robot game." The State presented sufficient evidence that Steffens did so "in order to knowingly arouse or gratify" his sexual response. Annie testified that Steffens removed her clothing and underwear, touched her private parts, was smiling during the events, and he told her that it was their "special game" only between them. An innocuous or non-sexual game would not have required Steffens to take off Annie's clothes and touch her private parts

repeatedly. Otherwise, well-established precedent forecloses Steffens's unsupported arguments that a jury may not infer mental state, that direct evidence of Steffens's sexual arousal was required to convict him of sexual assault, or that no corroborating evidence supported his conviction. This Court should affirm.

STANDARD OF REVIEW AND APPLICABLE LAW

Unpreserved instructional error claim: Generally, a party's failure to object to a perceived error at trial constitutes a waiver of the issue on appeal. *State v. Mathis*, 2022 MT 156, ¶ 42, 409 Mont. 348, 515 P.3d 758 (citing Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-104(2)). As to jury instructions, Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-410(3) provides that a defendant "may not assign as error any portion of the instructions or omission from the instructions unless an objection was made specifically stating the matter objected to, and the grounds for the objection, at the settlement of instructions."

Thus, "If a defendant had the opportunity to object to a jury instruction at trial but failed to do so," this Court will "not examine the issue unless it qualifies for plain error review." *Mathis*, ¶ 23 (citation omitted). This Court employs the plain error doctrine "sparingly, on a case-by-case basis, considering the 'totality of circumstances of each case.'" *State v. George*, 2020 MT 56, ¶ 5, 399 Mont. 173, 459 P.3d 854 (citation omitted). And "[t]he party requesting reversal because of

plain error bears the burden of firmly convincing this Court that the claimed error implicates a fundamental right and that such review is necessary to prevent a manifest miscarriage of justice or that failure to review the claim may leave unsettled the question of fundamental fairness of the proceedings or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process.” *George*, ¶ 5.

This Court will not undertake a full analysis of the alleged error each time a party requests plain error review. *State v. Griffin*, 2016 MT 231, ¶ 7, 385 Mont. 1, 386 P.3d 559. Conducting a full analysis to determine whether to find plain error would “defeat the underlying rule that a party must object to error at trial, because errors should be brought to the attention of the trial court where they can be initially addressed.” *State v. Ritesman*, 2018 MT 55, ¶ 12, 390 Mont. 399, 414 P.3d 261 (citing *Griffin*, ¶ 7).

IAC: IAC claims raise mixed questions of law and fact that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Bryson*, 2024 MT 315, ¶ 23, 419 Mont. 490, 560 P.3d 1270 (citation omitted). Before addressing an IAC claim on direct appeal, this Court must first determine whether the record is sufficient to determine whether counsel was ineffective. *State v. Robinson*, 2009 MT 170, ¶ 29, 350 Mont. 493, 208 P.3d 851. This Court will address the IAC claim on direct appeal if the record “explains why counsel did not do something.” *State v. Sawyer*, 2019 MT 93, ¶ 13, 395 Mont. 309, 439 P.3d 931. If the claim instead is based on matters outside the

record, this Court will not review it on direct appeal, recognizing that the defendant may raise the issue in a postconviction proceeding. *Id.* However, this Court will consider a claim not based on the trial record if there is “no plausible justification” for counsel’s action or inaction. *State v. Wittal*, 2019 MT 210, ¶ 13, 397 Mont. 155, 447 P.3d 1039.

Sufficiency: This Court reviews the question of whether sufficient evidence supports a criminal conviction de novo. *State v. McCoy*, 2021 MT 303, ¶ 25, 406 Mont. 375, 498 P.3d 1266. This Court considers the evidence presented in the light most favorable to the prosecution, and it will uphold a conviction where “any rational trier of fact could have found all the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt.” *McCoy*, ¶ 25.

This Court’s “job as an appellate court [is] to probe the record for evidence to support the fact-finder’s determination.” *State v. Dineen*, 2020 MT 193, ¶ 14, 400 Mont. 461, 469 P.3d 122. The inquiry is whether sufficient evidence exists to support the verdict, not whether the evidence could have supported a different result. *State v. Sheehan*, 2017 MT 185, ¶ 17, 388 Mont. 220, 399 P.3d 314. Thus, “whether the evidence could have supported a different result proves immaterial to our review.” *State v. Burnett*, 2022 MT 10, ¶ 15, 407 Mont. 189, 502 P.3d 703.

When reviewing sufficiency of the evidence, this Court “will not substitute [its] judgment for that of the jury, which is able to view firsthand the evidence

presented, observe the demeanor of the witnesses, and weigh the credibility of each party.” *State v. Shields*, 2005 MT 249, ¶ 20, 328 Mont. 509, 122 P.3d 421. “It is only in those rare cases where the testimony of a witness is so inherently improbable or is so nullified by material self-contradiction that no fair-minded person could believe it, that we may say no firm foundation exists for the verdict based on it.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. Steffens fails to show a manifest miscarriage of justice entitling him to plain error reversal based on his novel interpretation of the sexual contact statute.

The jury was instructed that “[s]exual contact” means “touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of the person of another, directly or through clothing, in order to knowingly[] arouse or gratify the sexual response or desire of either party.” (Doc. 109, Given Instr. #14; *see also* Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(67).)

In his unpreserved claim, Steffens exclusively challenges the above jury instruction.⁴ Steffens argues that sexual contact “requires that an offender act with a specific purpose” and that purpose can be found by interpreting the phrase “in

⁴ While Steffens’s fact section discusses several jury instructions from which the district court struck “purposely”—in the argument itself—Steffens does not mention, much less claim, that such action was improper. (*Compare* Appellant’s Br. at 11-13, discussing Given Jury Instrs. #14, 19, 20, *to id.* at 16-24.)

order to” in the instruction. (Appellant’s Br. at 16-17.) Steffens argues that because “in order to” is undefined, it could mean “for the purpose of,” and is thus “essentially” the “linguistic equivalent of the mental state of ‘purposely[.]’” (*Id.* at 17-19.) Steffens argues the district court erred “when it did not *provide* a jury instruction defining purposely as it applies to the definition of sexual contact.” (*Id.* at 16 (emphasis added).) But Steffens does not argue it was error for the district court otherwise *to strike* the errant mention of “purposely” in the State’s proposed instruction from the “sexual contact” jury instruction—particularly considering that sexual assault is a “knowingly” offense. Instead, Steffens argues that the district court erred because it “did not define ‘purposely’ and therefore ignored the requirement that the touching be done ‘in order to’ accomplish a criminal goal.” (*Id.* at 21.) Unwinding the argument as the State understands it, interpreting the “in order to” phrase to mean “purposely” would have, in turn, required an additional definitional instruction for the mental state of “purposely.”

Here, Steffens cannot meet his “burden of firmly convincing this Court” that failing to review the claimed error “is necessary to prevent a manifest miscarriage of justice or that failure to review the claim may leave unsettled the question of fundamental fairness of the proceedings or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process.” *George*, ¶ 5. As further explained below, Steffens fails to show plain error because: (1) the jury was fully and fairly instructed on the elements of

sexual assault; (2) Steffens’s defense did not directly implicate his intent for arousal, while the State’s case was strong; (3) Steffens is incorrect that the State prosecuted him without proving his criminal intent or that sexual assault criminalizes benign conduct; and (4) Steffens’s statutory interpretation is incorrect, absurd, and unreasonable.

First, Steffens’s unpreserved claim fails because the jury was fully and fairly instructed on the elements of sexual assault. Sexual assault is not a “purposely” offense. Rather, “[t]he offense of sexual assault requires that the accused *knowingly* make sexual contact with another.” *State v. Gerstner*, 2009 MT 303, ¶ 29, 353 Mont. 86, 219 P.3d 866 (emphasis added) (*see also* Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-502(1)). For the offense, the proper application of the knowingly statute should be applied, including the conduct-based definition. *See State v. Rowe*, 2024 MT 37, ¶¶ 28-31, 415 Mont. 280, 543 P.3d 614. And “courts ordinarily read a phrase in a criminal statute that introduces the elements of a crime with the word ‘knowingly’ as applying that word to each element.” *Bryson*, ¶ 31 (citing *State v. Hamernick*, 2023 MT 249, ¶ 16, 414 Mont. 307, 545 P.3d 666; *State v. Deveraux*, 2022 MT 130, ¶ 32, 409 Mont. 177, 512 P.3d 1198; *Fores-Figueroa v. United States*, 556 U.S. 646 (2009)); *see also* Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-103(4) (application of particular mental state as applying to each element). Thus, the jury was fully and fairly instructed on the elements of sexual assault, including the correct mental state.

Second, even assuming *arguendo* that “in order to” could mean the mental state of “purposely,” there would be no manifest miscarriage of justice in failing to review Steffens’s plain error claim—particularly considering Steffens’s defense did not put his mental state directly at issue as pertaining to the “sexual contact” jury instruction. Steffens’s defense was not that he engaged in sexual touching but did so without the requisite criminal intent—i.e., Steffens did not claim inadvertence or accident. Instead, Steffens’s defense was that he did not engage in sexual contact through sexual touching at all. Particularly, Steffens claimed Annie had been implanted with a false memory. And, while Steffens acknowledged that the robot game had occurred once, he outright denied touching Annie’s sexual parts at all, only admitting to touching her belly button in the context of a game Annie created. If the jury would have otherwise believed Steffens’s story, such a defense would not have required the jury to ascertain Steffens’s intent to “arouse or gratify the sexual response” of either party.

Steffens’s defense fell flat in any event, making plain error review even less appropriate here. Steffens weakly argued that because Alison was the first reporter to police, it was her “story.” But this “false memory” theory had no legs because, as corroborated and otherwise undisputed, it was Annie who first told Alison about Steffens’s sexual abuse. Regarding the forensic interview, Professor Laney acknowledged that, with best practices, implanting a false memory in forensic

interviews is unlikely. After Detective Ross confirmed that best practices were used in Annie's forensic interview, Steffens did not even attempt to argue that the forensic interview was, in any way, tainted by leading questions or otherwise. Accordingly, Steffens made no inroads on the tenuous theory that Annie's memories of countless instances of sexual abuse at the hands of Steffens were implanted. And the jury rejected Steffens's defense that the robot game was a one-time non-sexual game done in the presence of others, considering: (1) Annie's compelling and detailed testimony; (2) Alison's recollection that she had witnessed Steffens sexually abusing Annie; (3) Steffens's otherwise telling admission that he believed other people were keeping an eye on him; and (4) Steffens's immediate acknowledgment to Wisconsin authorities that he remembered the game and his further confirmation of the game's private nature.

Third, Steffens is mistaken in his argument that the sexual assault statute criminalizes benign conduct and the State prosecuted him without proving "viscous will" or criminal intent. "Beginning in 1973, the Montana Legislature modified the mens rea culpability requirements, adopting 'purposely' and 'knowingly' to embody 'intent.'" *State v. Christensen*, 2020 MT 237, ¶ 107, 401 Mont. 247, 472 P.3d 622 (citations omitted). Here, the State proved that Steffens acted with intent in a "knowingly" offense. The jury was instructed that a person acts "knowingly" when "he is aware of his conduct." (Doc. 109, Given Instr. #18.) And

the jury was instructed that sexual contact means “touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of the person” to “knowingly[] arouse or gratify the sexual response or desire of either party.” (*Id.*, Given Instr. #14.) Thus, sexual assault already requires awareness of conduct of sexual touching and requires a specific intent to “arouse or gratify the sexual response” of either party. Applying the sexual contact instruction, “[i]t is the particularized conduct of making sexual contact that the statute makes criminal.” *Gerstner*, ¶ 29. Thus, contrary to Steffens’s claim, the Legislature has not criminalized innocuous touching such as changing a diaper because the mental state applies to the conduct done with knowledge to obtain sexual arousal, or knowledge to cause bodily injury or to humiliate, harass, or degrade the victim. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(67). And, here, the State proved that Steffens had a culpable mental state, and thus conscious knowledge of his wrongdoing. *See Xiulu Ruan v. United States*, 597 U.S. 450, 457 (2022).⁵

Finally, Steffens’s argument that the district court should have *sua sponte* zeroed in on the phrase “in order to” and interpreted that phrase to mean the mental state of “purposely” fails to show that “failure to review the claim may leave unsettled the question of fundamental fairness of the proceedings or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process.” *George*, ¶ 5.

⁵ This is far from the circumstance where there is “no mens rea provision whatsoever[.]” *See Ruan*, 597 U.S. at 458-59.

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